### IN THE SUPREME COURT IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SCOTT PAUL BOUTERS

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DCA CASE NO. 93-504

Supreme Court Case No. 83,558

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

S.C. VAN VOORHEES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 109503 112 Orange Ave., Ste. A DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 18, 1992, Barbara Sue Akers contacted the Orange County Sheriff's office and advised them that the defendant<sup>1</sup>, her ex-boyfriend, had been harassing her by calling her on the telephone and making threats. She told the sheriff that the defendant had beaten her in the past and threatened to kill her and that she had obtained a domestic violence injunction against him which was still in force. She said that the defendant had come uninvited into to her home that day and left only when the sheriff's office was called. (R 15-17)

The defendant was charged with the third-degree felony of Aggravated Stalking, Section 784.048(4), Florida Statutes. (R 20)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The defendant in the trial proceedings, now the appellant, will be referred to as the defendant in this brief. The state, now the appellee, will be referred to as the state. The symbol (R) is used to denote the documents filed with the clerks of court. The symbol (TR) is used to denote the transcripts of oral proceedings before the court. Section 784.048, Florida Statutes is referred to as the Florida Stalking Law, or the statute.

The defendant filed a motion to dismiss the charge on the ground that the statute on which the charge was based was impermissibly vague and overbroad, rendering it unconstitutional as repugnant to the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. (R 61)

A hearing was held to argue the motion, but the judge summarily denied it based solely on a reading of the defendant's previously-filed memorandum of law, without hearing any further argument from the state or the defense. (TR 2)

The defendant entered a no-contest plea to the charge on February 15, 1993, reserving the right to appeal. (R 10, 34, 35)

A sentence of 24 months in the department of corrections was imposed. (R 12)

The defendant filed a timely notice of appeal, and the case was reviewed by the 5th District Court of Appeals. The decision of the trial court was affirmed in an opinion which specifically found that Section 784.048(3), Florida Statutes, known as the Florida Stalking Law, was facially constitutional. (Appendix A)

A notice of intent to seek discretionary review was timely filed. An order accepting jurisdiction and setting oral argument was entered on June 21, 1994. This proceeding follows.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The language of Section 784.048, Florida Statutes, is vague and overbroad, and does not give people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct under its terms. Because of its vagueness, the law is subject to arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.

For these reasons, the statute is void as unconstitutional and the defendant's conviction under it should be reversed.

#### ISSUE

#### THE FLORIDA STALKING LAW IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD

It is a fundamental requirement of due process that a criminal statute must clearly delineate the conduct it proscribes. <u>Grayned v. City of Rockford</u>, 408 U.S. 104 (1974) The proscribed conduct must be defined with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner which does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory law enforcement. <u>Kolander v. Lawson</u>, 461 U.S. 352 (1983)

The U.S. Supreme Court has held that a statute is unconstitutionally vague if it is so drafted that "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." <u>Connally v. General Construction Company</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926)

The Florida Stalking Law under which the defendant was charged and convicted does not meet this standard, because it suffers from at least two serious drafting problems which render it vague to the extent that even legal scholars find its exact significance difficult to divine, leaving its meaning virtually inscrutable to ordinary people such as police officers and college students who are in the active parts of the population and need to understand it.

This obscurity of meaning is not something which is apparent only to Florida advocates engaging in teleological reasoning in

behalf of their clients. Lawyers from other jurisdictions with unclouded motives have noticed and commented on the vagueness of the draftsmanship. The following passage from a learned treatise published in the Vanderbilt Law Review supports this statement:

"The proliferation of stalking statutes reflects a new awareness that obsessive harassment is serious behavior warranting a serious remedy. Stalking laws are an important addition to the legal arsenal, precisely because they account for the nature of obsessive behavior and punish it with adequate penalties. Yet current stalking laws are not comprehensive. Some, like the California and Connecticut statutes, are too narrow to address fully all dangerous stalking behavior. Others, like the Florida statute, are drafted imprecisely and are susceptible to vagueness challenges. With stalking behavior on the rise, the need for states to enact comprehensive and carefully-drafted stalking laws that will pass constitutional muster is paramount."

# Guy, The Nature and Constitutionality of Stalking Laws, 46 VNLR 991 (1993)

The primary thrust of the argument in this brief is that the legislature's use of two nebulous phrases, which it left undefined, is alone enough to render the stalking law unconstitutionally void for vagueness and overbreadth. These phrases are: "no legitimate purpose" and "substantial emotional distress".

#### 1. "No legitimate purpose."

- **\*** 

Referring to the "Harass" definition incorporated into the Florida Stalking Law at subparagraph (1)(a), it becomes more clear why the author of the Vanderbilt Law Review article thought our stalking law was vague. The term is defined by the statute in the following way: "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate

purpose. Section 784.048(1), Florida Statutes (1992 supp.) This definition is absolutely central to the interpretation and enforcement of the law because, though the law is entitled a stalking law, what it really focusses on is harassment.

Since the law is being accused of vagueness, it is important to determine what that term means. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that a statute is unconstitutionally vague if it is so drafted that "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." <u>Connally v.</u> <u>General Construction Company</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926) That law was made in 1926. In 1985, the Florida Supreme Court restated existing law and defined a workable test for statutory vagueness for use in Florida. The case was <u>State v. Bussey</u>, 463 So.2d 1141, 1144 (Fla.1985):

A statute which does not give people of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what constitutes forbidden conduct is vague. <u>Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 405 U.S. 156, 92 S.Ct. 839, 31 L.Ed.2d 110 (1972); <u>State v. Winters</u>, 346 So.2d 991 (Fla.1977); <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 257 So.2d 21 (Fla.1971). The language of a statute must 'provide a definite warning of what conduct' is required or prohibited, 'measured by common understanding and practice.'

In 1991 the Florida Supreme Court added to and clarified this iteration by specifying in detail upon what reasoning its ruling on statutory vagueness was based. The case was <u>Perkins v.</u> <u>State</u>, 576 So. 2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991):

One of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter. E.g., <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 526 So.2d 58 (Fla.1988); <u>State</u> <u>ex rel. Cherry v. Davidson</u>, 103 Fla. 954, 139 So. 177 (1931); <u>Ex</u> <u>parte Bailey</u>, 39 Fla. 734, 23 So. 552 (1897). This principle ultimately rests on the due process requirement that criminal statutes must say with some precision exactly what is prohibited.

E.g., <u>Brown v. State</u>, 358 So.2d 16 (Fla.1978); <u>Franklin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 257 So.2d 21 (Fla.1971); <u>State v. Moo Young</u>, 566 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Words and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute.

[2] Indeed, our system of jurisprudence is founded on a belief that everyone must be given sufficient notice of those matters that may result in a deprivation of life, liberty, or property. <u>Scull v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1251 (Fla.1990) (on petition for clarification); Franklin, 257 So.2d at 23. For this reason,

[a] penal statute must be written in language sufficiently definite, when measured by common understanding and practice, to apprise ordinary persons of common intelligence of what conduct will render them liable to be prosecuted for its violation.

<u>Gluesenkamp v. State</u>, 391 So.2d 192, 198 (Fla.1980), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 454 U.S. 818, 102 S.Ct. 98, 70 L.Ed.2d 88 (1981) (citations omitted). Elsewhere, we have said that

[s]tatutes criminal in character must be strictly construed. In its application to penal and criminal statutes, the due process requirement of definiteness is of especial importance.

<u>State ex rel. Lee v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So.2d 33, 36 (Fla.1966) (citations omitted); accord <u>State v. Valentin</u>, 105 N.J. 14, 519 A.2d 322 (1987). Thus, to the extent that definiteness is lacking, a statute must be construed in the manner most favorable to the accused. <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla.1983); <u>Ferguson v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla.1979).

The rule of strict construction also rests on the doctrine that the power to create crimes and punishments in derogation of the common law inheres solely in the democratic processes of the legislative branch. (FN4) <u>Borges v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 1265, 1267 (Fla.1982); accord <u>United States v. L. Cohen Grocery Co.</u>, 255 U.S. 81, 87-93, 41 S.Ct. 298, 299-301, 65 L.Ed. 516 (1921) (applying same principle to Congressional authority). As we have stated,

The Florida Constitution requires a certain precision defined by the legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary. <u>See</u> Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution.

Brown, 358 So.2d at 20; <u>accord Palmer</u>, 438 So.2d at 3. This principle can be honored only if criminal statutes are applied in their strict sense, not if the courts use some minor vagueness to extend the statutes' breadth beyond the strict language approved by the legislature. To do otherwise would violate the separation of powers. Art. II, Sec. 3, Fla. Const.

Explicitly recognizing the principles described above, the legislature has codified the rule of strict construction within the Florida Criminal Code:

The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

Sec. 775.021(1), Fla.Stat. (1987).

From the above, it seems clear that the use of vague and nebulous terms in penal statutes is not likely to be gladly suffered by the Florida Supreme Court.

Next, it is to be determined if the phrases complained of this brief are really vague.

The Florida Stalking Law punishes harassment. It defines harassment as conduct distressing to another which has no legitimate purpose. How an officer interprets the word legitimate, therefore, is absolutely determinative of whether an accused in a non-following case such as the one at bar,<sup>2</sup> will be chargeable with a crime under the Florida Stalking Law.

With harassment the issue, a police officer who is dispatched to the scene of what may be a stalking violation must first make a determination of whether the conduct before him is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The allegations of the instant case were that the defendant had repeatedly called the ex-girlfriend on the telephone, and paid an unwanted visit to her home after being placed under a domestic violence injunction. (TR 15, 16) Neither of these actions involves following, hence the "Following" aspect of the statute was not involved in this case.

serving a "legitimate" purpose. If the officer arrives at the scene and finds bill-collecting, mortgage-foreclosure, investigative reporting or abortion-picketing in progress, he is likely to decide that the malicious harassment taking place is serving a legitimate purpose, and that no crime is being committed no matter how much malice may be in the air or how much anguish the behavior may be causing. In such circumstances he will no doubt recognize that his duty under this law is to leave the parties as they are and go back on patrol.

Thus, where following is not a factor, as in the instant case, the question of whether further investigation will even be undertaken depends on the subjective determination of the responding officer as to whether or not the course of conduct being questioned is serving a legitimate purpose. The problem here is that the statute does not define "legitimate". The officer is on his own in this regard. He must make the watershed decision as to whether the behavior before him is legitimate without guidance of any kind from the statute.

It might be argued that the term legitimate has been in the english language for aeons and everyone should by now have a good grasp of its meaning. The problem with this is that the issue of legitimacy or illegitimacy is the absolutely pivotal point upon which all ethical systems are based. Legitimate and illegitimate are simply two other words for right and wrong, or good and evil. Sending an officer out without exact and very specific guidelines to arbitrate legitimate behavior in the abstract is like sending

him out, as in Camelot, to fight for right.

People of different backgrounds commonly differ as to what they consider legitimate, right and good. Some might consider harassment pursuant to investigative reporting legitimate, while others might not. True, such reporting is frequently malicious, but many can accept this as justified if the perceived turpitude of the subject being investigated is great enough.

An examination of the statute reveals that, having turned loose the issues of legitimacy and illegitimacy, it contains nothing to guide or help the officer in resolving what amounts to the age-old struggle between good and evil. No specific definitions have been provided, no guidelines have been set forth, and no ethical principles have been enunciated.

Hence the defendant argues that, without specific guidelines, various enforcers from different cultural backgrounds will differ as to the application of this statute. In Florida we have many cultural backgrounds. A court could probably take judicial notice of the fact that the state of Florida is a melting pot of divers cultures.<sup>3</sup>

This possibility of divers application because of divers cultural backgrounds is good evidence that the law is unconstitutional, because the U.S. Supreme Court has held that a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Perhaps such a law would work well in an island society such as Japan in which a single homogenous culture thousands of years old still exists. In Japan there may actually be some surviving consensus as to fundamental cultural values which could support sending the police out without guidelines to support what they thought was legitimate and suppress that which they thought was illegitimate.

statute is unconstitutionally vague if it is so drafted that "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." <u>Connally v. General Construction</u> <u>Company</u>, 269 U.S. 385, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926)

With these considerations in mind, it seems clear that the use of the term legitimate without specific definition or guidance as to its meaning "impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges and juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application." <u>Grayned v. City of Rockford</u>, 408 U.S. 104, 108-9, 92 S.Ct. 2294, 2298-99, 33 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1972), quoted in <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 231, 236-7 (Fla. 1993).

#### 2. "Substantial emotional distress."

The definition of "harassment" contains a second element of troublesome vagueness: "substantial emotional distress"

The use of this wording adds a second tier of imponderables to the charging decision that an officer at the scene of an alleged stalking must make. If the officer has confronted the question of whether, in his estimation, the activity being engaged in is serving a legitimate purpose, and has decided that it is not, he must enquire further. Now, by the terms of the statute, he must determine if the course of conduct is causing substantial emotional distress in a specific person. The statute, however, provides no guidance as to how the process of determining stress level is to proceed.

Although polygraph and psychological stress evaluation machines exist, they are not yet considered reliable enough for general admissibility in judicial proceedings. Cohen V. State, 581 So.2d 926 (3rd DCA 1991); Davis y. State, 520 So.2d 572 (Fla.1988); Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla.1983) Certainly, this equipment is not available at the street level to help a police officer in making a good on-the-spot determination of the level of emotional distress in someone he is facing on a front porch. The use of this equipment is not even addressed in the Hence the officer must determine the level of statute. emotional distress in a stranger, and he must do it based on nothing more than his own subjective appreciation of the symptoms being exhibited by the person before him. His difficulty in this regard will be compounded by the fact that no guidance is given by the statute as to the meaning of the term "substantial", which, depending on the criteria used, could mean anything from noticeable annoyance to a state of stunned, catatonic horror. It can be accepted that even trained psychologists are frequently guessing when they assess a person's level of emotional distress without the use of written tests or special equipment. It is safe to assume that a police officer will be in no better position on the street than a psychologist would be in his office. Hence it is also safe to assume that the police officer will be guessing at the level of emotional distress a large proportion of the time.

Given this built-in component of uncertainty, generated in

part by the absence of guidance in the statute, different police officers, having different upbringings, and different educations, equipped with no special equipment, and being without specific guidance, will necessarily differ as to whether the level of stress required for activation of the statute has been reached.

This is more good evidence that the statute is unconstitutional under the reasoning of The Supreme Court in <u>Connally</u>, <u>id</u>. The police, being usually "men of common intelligence", must necessarily "guess at the meaning" of the phrase "substantial emotional distress", and "differ as to its application". The statute has thus "left to police the unguided task of differentiating between constitutionally protected street encounters and acts reflecting the state of mind needed to make an arrest.", a situation the Florida Supreme Court viewed with disfavor in <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1993)

#### 3. The law keys prosecution to emotional response.

There is another, more troublesome, aspect to the decision of the legislature in tying criminality to the emotional state of the accuser in the stalking statute. Traditionally, laws have been tied to the stimulus side of the interpersonal equation. If a man did something specific, a corresponding emotional response was assumed to result in the victim. It was the stimulus, which the defendant controlled, which was used as the determinant of criminality. The law, in short, regulated behavior and assumed emotional response.

This law reverses that. Now the emotional response is what controls criminality. This is, of course, beyond the control of the accused.

The law is now monitoring emotional response and assuming that if the response was bad, the stimulus behavior which elicited it must be bad too. On close examination, it will be apparent that this is a fallacy. Where emotions are concerned, the pathology of the person having the emotion can be a bigger determinant of the emotion than the objective stimulus. There are people who have free-floating anxiety which has no discernible stimulus whatever.

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