IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,870

FILED

SID J. MHITE

JOHN D. POLSON,

OCT 31 19941

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Daputy Clerk

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

PARKER D. THOMSON Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 081225

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 784.048 in its entirety, Florida's Stalking Statute (the "Statute"), and Section 784.048(3) thereof, specifically, are constitutional. This statute is constitutional, and totally complies with the First or Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. It is neither overbroad nor vague.

The Statute proscribes stalking and harassing generally. Stalking and harassing are forms of conduct, regardless of whether the conduct may, in part, be evidenced through speech. As such, the proscribed conduct in the Statute is not susceptible to a First Amendment overbreadth challenge. Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom; Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994); State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1994); Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. ____, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). Furthermore, the Statute, judged in relation to legitimate sweep, is not overbroad. Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Furthermore the Statute is not subject to a vagueness challenge. No portion of the Statute is "vague" to the degree required to violate the First or Fourteenth Amendments. Rather, the statutory provisions provide explicit guidelines for determining which conduct is proscribed.

In all, Petitioner's arguments have all been considered and disposed of by the decisions of the Fourth District in <u>Kahles</u> the Third District in <u>Pallas</u>. The Stalking Statute is facially constitutional.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 784.048, FLA. STAT. (1992) IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD AND/OR VAGUE.

INTRODUCTION

This case addresses the strict issue of whether Section 784.048(3) of the Florida Statutes is constitutional as it applies to the actions of Petitioner. Petitioner has also made a broad facial challenge to Section 784.048, Fla. Stat. (1992) in its entirety. The Petitioner's challenge to the Statute is based on asserted overbreadth and vaqueness.

Petitioner was charged with violating Section 784.048(3) of the Statute, aggravated stalking by harassment (repeated threats to kill) with a credible threat with the intento to place the victim in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury. Since there is no First Amendment protection for such threats in to injure, Petitioner's overbreadth challenge must be rejected out of hand. His vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. 733, 757, 94 S. Ct. 2547, 41 L.Ed.2d 439 (1974).

Nevertheless, the State will address additional aspects of the Statute beyond Section 784.048(3) should this Court, in the interest of judicial economy, wish to review the entire Statute in one case. Sections (2), (3) and (4) of the Statute prohibit the same conduct, to wit: willfully, maliciously and repeatedly following or harassing another person. Section (2) is a misdemeanor of the first degree since that Section only prohibits the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing of another.

Section (3) of the Statute elevates such conduct to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing conduct is accompanied by a credible threat with the intent to place that person in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury. The credible threat" placing a person in "reasonable fear" parallels the "well founded fear in other persons" element in the crimes of assault, aggravated assault and robbery. See §§784.011, 784.021 and 812.13 Fla. Stat. (1991).

Section (4) likewise elevates willful, malicious and repeated following or harassing to the third degree felony of aggravated stalking when the following or harassing conduct is in knowing violation of a previous court order prohibiting such conduct.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Statute's opponent must establish that the Statute is invalid beyond, and to the exclusion of, every reasonable doubt.

See Bunnel v. State, 453 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1984); State v.

Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981). See also New York State Club
Assn., Inc. v. City of New York, 487 U.S. 1, 108 S.Ct. 2225, 101
L.Ed.2d 1 (1988). (Burden of showing statute to be unconstitutional is on the one challenging it, not the one defending it).

In State v. Kahles, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Court reiterated the proper analytical framework, as established in Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 494, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed. 362 (1982) to be utilized when a criminal statute is alleged to be facially unconstitutional for overbreadth and vaqueness. proper analytic framework is for the court to first determine whether the enactment reaches а substantial amount constitutionally protected conduct. If not, the overbreadth challenge must fail. Secondly, the court should examine the vaqueness challenge and, if there is no constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. 2 Kahles, supra.

² In a facial challenge to the overbreadth and vagueness of a law, a court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must The court should then examine the facial vagueness conduct. fail. challenge and, assuming implicates the enactment constitutionally protected conduct, should uphold the challenge only if the enactment is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. A plaintiff who engages in some conduct that isclearly proscribed cannot complain of the vaqueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others. A court should therefore

THE STATUTE IS NOT OVERBROAD

Overbreadth is a doctrine limited to statutes involving restrictions on First Amendment rights. If a statute does not contravene the First Amendment, then an overbreadth challenge fails. In a facial challenge to the overbreadth of a law, the Court's first task is to determine whether the enactment reaches a substantial amount of constitutionally protected speech. If it does not, then the overbreadth challenge must fail. State v. Kahles, supra; Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside Hoffman Estates, supra.

This case involves harassment constituting threats to kill which resulted in a domestic violence injunction and then violation of the injunction. This Court held that it constitutionally permissible to regulate the "violent orharassing nature of Operation Rescue's expressive activity." Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, 626 So. 2d 664, 671 (Fla. 1993), aff'd in part and rev'd in part, sub nom Madsen v. Women's Health Ctr., 512 U.S. ____, 114 S.Ct. 2516, 129 L.Ed.2d 593 (1994). Additionally, the United States Supreme Court upheld this Court's holding which restricted picketing around the clinic against a First Amendment challenge when it "threatens" psychological and physicalwell-being of the victim. Id. The

examine the complainant's conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law. Kahles, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1778 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (footnotes omitted).

United States Supreme Court specifically held that, "[c]learly, threats to patients or their families, however communicated, are proscribable under the First Amendment." 129 L.Ed.2d at 612. (emphasis added). Threats, therefore, are not protected speech under the First Amendment. Likewise, a violation of the domestic violence injunction is not protected speech.

The Statute generally deals with stalking and harassing. Stalking, in the normal sense of the word, is pure conduct. Harassing may well include a speech component. This is irrelevant here where we are dealing with a threat of death. But harassing in general is conduct which may, in part, be articulated by speech. This speech survives any overbreadth challenge, nevertheless, as the Statute regulates only words used as a method to harass which, of itself, is conduct, even when mixed with speech.

Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), clearly articulated the correct rule. The Third District there upheld the constitutionality of the Statute against both an overbreadth and a vagueness challenge. The Third District rejected the overbreadth challenge to the Statute, even where the method by which the defendant harassed the victim was in a series of harassing telephone calls made by defendant. The Court held that the Statute survives an overbreadth challenge since the Statute does not proscribe conduct unless: 1) the conduct is willful,

malicious, and repeated; 2) there must be a course of conduct which would cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the position of the victim; and 3) the conduct must serve no legitimate purpose. <u>Id.</u> at 1363. For aggravated stalking, there must also be a credible threat made with the intent to place the victim in reasonable fear of death or bodily injury, or, as in this case, the violation of a domestic violence injunction.

That this conduct may be effected in part through speech does not invalidate the Statute on freedom of speech grounds where the use of words as the method with which to harass conduct mixed with speech. The constitutional considerations differ substantially from those applied to pure speech. Pallas, 636 So. 2d 1363 (citing the decision of this Court in State v. Elders, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)). The applicable test that applies when conduct and not merely speech is involved is that the overbreadth must not only be real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute's legitimate sweep. Id. The Third District in Pallas concluded that the overbreadth challenge was not real substantial judged in relation to the Statute's legitimate sweep. The State submits that the Pallas court correctly dealt with an overbreadth challenge to the Statute.

In a related line of cases, this Court upheld Section 785.085(1), Florida Statutes (1989), commonly referred to as Florida's Hate Crimes Statute. In so doing this Court followed the United States Supreme Court's holding as to the Wisconsin Hate Crimes Statute in Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S. ___, 113 S.Ct. 2194, 124 L.Ed.2d 436 (1993). This Court held the Florida Hate Crimes Statute does not violate the First Amendment because the statute punishes bias-motivated criminal conduct rather than the expression of ideas. State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1075 (Fla. 1994). This Court held that the Hate Crimes Statute punishes the conduct that evidences the prejudice, even when speech is a primary component of the conduct. The Stalder analysis, a fortiorari, applies to the Statute since hate crimes almost invariably involve a speech component, while often stalking through harassing has no such speech component.

In summary, the Statute is not overbroad. Stalking, whether by word or deed, done with the requisite specific intent to cause harm or threat to the victim is not protected by the First Amendment. The Stalking Statute regulates the conduct that causes threat or harm, not the content of a message that may accompany it. Lastly, the Statute by its terms ("course of conduct") excludes constitutionally protected activity. This type of exclusion has saved statutes from overbreadth challenges.

See, e.g., Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 162, 94 S.Ct. 1633, 40 L.Ed.2d 15 (1974). In this case, the exclusion is unnecessary to protect against the overbreadth challenge.

THE STATUTE IS NOT VAGUE

Petitioner's vaqueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. at 757. But in any case, no portion of this Statute is "vague" in the sense of violating the First or Fourteenth Amendments. to succeed on a vaqueness challenge, Petitioner must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates, supra. However, perfection of language is the rule, rather whether it violates not constitutional mandates. Kahles, supra; Pallas, supra; Stalder, supra.

Petitioner challenges a number of terms of the Statute as "vague". These terms will be addressed in turn.

Knowingly

"Knowingly," in criminal law, means actual consciousness, or actually having knowledge of the facts at issue. United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 444-45, 98 S.Ct. 2864, 57 L.Ed.2d 854 (1978), United States v. Warren, 612 F.2d 887 (5th Cir. 1980). See also, Sec. 409.920(2)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993) ("Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware of, or should be aware of the nature of his conduct and that his conduct is substantially certain the intended to cause Accordingly, "knowingly" as applied in this case means that the defendant knew that the injunction had been issued and acted in contravention thereof.

Willfully

The United States Supreme Court defined the term "willful" as "when [willful is] used in a criminal statute it generally means an act done with a bad purpose." Screws v. United States, 395 U.S. 91, 101, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 89 L.Ed.2d 1495 (1985) (upholding the vagueness challenge to 18 U.S.C. 52). The Court stated further that willfulness requires more "than the doing of an act proscribed by statute" and that "[a]n evil motive to accomplish that which the statute condemns becomes a constituent element of the crime." Id. As to vagueness the Court held:

...the requirement of a specific intent to do a prohibited act may avoid those consequences to the accused which may otherwise render a vague or indefinite statute invalid...But where the punishment imposed is only for an act knowingly done with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the accused cannot be said to suffer from lack of warning or knowledge that the act which he does is a violation of law. The requirement that the act must be willful or purposeful may not render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the crime which is in some respects uncertain. But it does relieve the statute of the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware.

Id. at 101-102.

Florida has defined "willful" similarly to the United States Supreme Court's definition. "Willful" means intentionally, knowingly and purposely. Paterson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). The Statute contains the necessary scienter element, since in all sections it punishes only that perpetrator who willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand that he will have violated a statute if he followed or harassed another intentionally and with a bad purpose. perpetrator's mental state which is the his measure of criminality.

The Statute requires not only that the act be intentional and with a bad purpose (maliciously). It also has to be done repeatedly. Each of these terms adds limitations to the Statute, curing any vagueness as to what conduct is prohibited.

Maliciously

"Maliciously" is a term well-defined in criminal law. It isdefined as "wrongfully, intentionally, without legal justification or excuse, and with the knowledge that injury or damage will or may be caused to another person or the property of another person." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 130, 109. See also, State v. Gaylord, 356 So. 2d 313 (Fla 1978) ("maliciously" means ill will, hatred, spite, an evil intent). The term maliciously, in combination, with the term "willful", clearly

requires the perpetrator's conduct to be done intentionally, with an evil purpose and without legal justification. The terms "willfully" and "maliciously" are legal terms defined in familiar legal terms. Bradley v. United States, 410 U.S. 605, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973). As such, these terms delineate what conduct is proscribed.

Repeatedly

The plain and ordinary meaning of "repeatedly" can be determined by referring to a dictionary. Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1992). "Repeated" means: "1: renewed or recurring again and again: constant, frequent." Webster's Third New International Dictionary; 1924 (1986 Ed.). Applying this definition to the term "repeatedly" further clarifies the proscribed conduct in the Statute. The perpetrator must act intentionally with an evil purpose and such act must be more than an isolated incident.

Harasses

The Statute in Section (1)(a) defines "harasses" as follows:

- (a) "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose.
- Petitioner challenges this statutory definition on the individual terms and not on the whole statutory definition. Petitioner

alleges that the terms "substantial emotional distress" and "no legitimate purpose" are not sufficient to prevent arbitrary enforcement.

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